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believes not being scheduled off from work
on the Sabbath created an offensive work
environment. At trial, she presented an-
ecdotal incidents of inconveniences she en-
countered. For example, when the over-
head crane she was operating broke down,
she had to wait longer than she felt was
necessary for assistance. On another oc-
casion, one of her Pickle Department shift
managers tried to correct a pay error.
However, he made the correction after she
had already transferred to the North
Sheet Mill and it ultimately ended up al-
tering her paycheck from her new depart-
ment. These types of incidents do not
rise to the level of an objectively offensive
environment; there was no evidence the
incidents were directed at Ms. Williams
because of her religion or gender; the in-
cidents were not severe or pervasive; nor
was there any basis for employer liability.

Considering the totality of the circum-
stances, the anecdotal occurrences were
neither physically threatening nor humili-
ating nor did they interfere with Ms.
Williams’s work performance. These were
isolated incidents that did not alter the
terms and conditions of her employment.
See Porter, 700 F.3d at 956.

Ms. Williams failed to prove her claim of
discriminatory harassment based on an al-
leged hostile work environment.

CONCLUSION
On all claims in the Amended Complaint
the Court hereby ORDERS JUDGMENT
in favor of Defendant United States Steel
Corporation against Plaintiff Patrice
Williams. She shall take nothing by her
Amended Complaint.

The Clerk of this Court shall ENTER
JUDGMENT accordingly.
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Background: Manufacturer of surgical
equipment and its majority shareholder
brought action against former employee,
the minority shareholder, alleging several
claims, including breach of fiduciary duty,
trademark infringement, cybersquatting,
trade secret misappropriation, and conspir-
acy to injure business. Majority sharehold-
er moved for summary judgment.

Holdings: The District Court, Lynn Adel-
man, J., held that:

(1) minority shareholder did not owe fidu-
ciary duty to manufacturer;

(2) benefits of trademark for surgical
equipment did not inure to minority
shareholder;

(3) dispute existed as to whether minority
shareholder honestly believed he held
mark for equipment;

(4) dispute existed as to whether manufac-
turer kept information confidential;

(56) minority shareholder acted in bad faith
in removing information from website;
and
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(6) majority shareholder’s receipt of
checks following salary increase were
not a continuing violation.

Motion granted in part and denied in part.

1. Corporations and Business Organiza-
tions 1524, 1561

Under Wisconsin law, as predicted by
the district court, minority shareholder in
closely held corporation did not owe fidu-
ciary duty to corporation, and thus was not
liable for breach of such a duty by alleged-
ly competing against the corporation and
shutting down its website following a dis-
agreement with the majority shareholder.

2. Corporations and Business Organiza-
tions &=1524

Ordinarily, under wisconsin law, a mi-

nority shareholder does not owe a corpora-
tion a fiduciary duty.

3. Corporations and Business Organiza-
tions &=1524, 1526(3)

Under Wisconsin law, majority share-
holders in closely held corporations owe a
fiduciary duty to the corporation and mi-
nority shareholders.

4. Corporations and Business Organiza-
tions ¢=1524
Under Wisconsin law, as predicted by
the district court, a minority shareholder
in a closely held corporation does not owe
a fiduciary duty to the corporation.

5. Conspiracy €2

Wisconsin intra-corporate conspiracy
doctrine, providing that corporate officers
acting within the scope of their employ-
ment cannot conspire with one another or
with the corporation, did not apply to offi-
cers of corporation that produced surgical
equipment, and thus corporation’s officers
were not entitled to protection from a com-
peting manufacturer’s civil conspiracy
claim, where corporation was not officially
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organized at the time its officers agreed to
compete against the other manufacturer.

6. Conspiracy €=1.1

Under Wisconsin law, a civil conspira-
cy is a combination of two or more persons
by some concerted action to accomplish
some unlawful purpose or to accomplish by
unlawful means some purpose not in itself
unlawful.

7. Conspiracy &2

To state a claim for civil conspiracy
under Wisconsin law, a plaintiff must
present facts showing some agreement be-
tween the alleged conspirators on the
common end sought and some cooperation
toward the attainment of that end.

8. Conspiracy €&=2

Under Wisconsin law, the “intra-cor-
porate conspiracy” doctrine which provides
that corporate officers acting within the
scope of their employment cannot conspire
with one another or with the corporation is
based on the idea that officers’ acts are
acts of the corporation, and a corporation
cannot conspire with itself.

See publication Words and Phras-

es for other judicial constructions
and definitions.

9. Corporations and Business Organiza-
tions &=1124, 1231

Under Wisconsin law, until it is orga-
nized, a corporation does not exist, and
persons attempting to act for it are not
agents of it.

10. Trademarks €=1137(2), 1367

Surgical equipment manufacturer that
had trademark for surgical patch through
use of mark, and for which the mark
served as a designation of source, had
superior rights to competing manufacturer
that obtained certificate of registration
from the Patent and Trademark Office
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(PTO). Lanham Act, §§ 7(b), 33(a), 15
U.S.C.A. §§ 1057(b), 1115(a).

11. Trademarks &=1084, 1421

To prove trademark infringement un-
der the Lanham Act, a plaintiff must es-
tablish that it owns a protectable mark and
that defendants’ use of the mark was likely
to cause confusion among consumers as to
the origin of defendants’ product. Lan-
ham Act, § 43(a), 15 U.S.C.A. § 1125(a).

12. Trademarks ¢=1137(1)

A party who first appropriates the
mark through use, and for whom the mark
serves as a designation of source, acquires
superior rights to it. Lanham Act,
§ 43(a), 15 U.S.C.A. § 1125(a).

13. Trademarks ¢=1614

A licensing agreement is usually
raised as a defense to a trademark in-
fringement claim under the Lanham Act,
but can be offered as evidence of owner-
ship of a trademark. Lanham Act, § 1 et
seq., 15 U.S.C.A. § 1051 et seq.

14. Trademarks ¢=1204

Whether an unwritten licensing agree-
ment exists, as a defense to a claim for
trademark infringement under the Lan-
ham Act, depends on whether, considering
the objective conduct of the parties, a rea-
sonable person would believe that an
agreement was reached. Lanham Act, § 1
et seq., 15 U.S.C.A. § 1051 et seq.

15. Trademarks ¢=1208

Benefits of trademark for surgical
patch, the WITTMAN PATCH, produced
by manufacturer, did not inure to inventor
under “related company” doctrine, and
thus inventor was liable for trademark in-
fringement under the Lanham Act after he
began selling a product with the same
mark to compete with manufacturer,
where inventor did not exercise any con-
trol over manufacturer, since, at most, he

gave manufacturer a “naked” license which
did not give authority to control the quali-
ty of the patch, and had little to no author-
ity to control the manufacturer in his roles
as minority shareholder, director, or vice
president. Lanham Act, § 5, 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1055.

16. Trademarks €¢=1691

Whether consumers are likely to be
confused about the origin of a defendant’s
products or services, as element of trade-
mark infringement claim under the Lan-
ham Act, is ultimately a question of fact.
Lanham Act, § 32(1), 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1114(1).

17. Trademarks ¢=1081

Seven factors comprise the likelihood
of confusion analysis in a trademark in-
fringement case under the Lanham Act:
(1) the similarity between the marks in
appearance and suggestion; (2) the similar-
ity of the products; (3) the area and man-
ner of concurrent use; (4) the degree and
care likely to be exercised by consumers;
(5) the strength of the plaintiff’s mark; (6)
any actual confusion; and (7) the intent of
the defendants to ‘palm off’ their product
as that of another. Lanham Act, § 32(1),
15 U.S.C.A. § 1114(1).

18. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2493

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether competing manufactur-
er's use of “STAR PATCH” trademark
was likely to confuse consumer’s as to the
origin of its product, precluding summary
judgment on trademark infringement
claim under the Lanham Act by manufac-
turer that held “STARSURGICAL” trade-
mark. Lanham Act, § 1 et seq., 15
U.S.C.A. § 1051 et seq.

19. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2493

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether inventor of surgical
patch honestly believed he had licensed
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production of patch to manufacturer such
that he owned the “WITTMAN PATCH”
mark used by the manufacturer at the
time inventor registered it, precluding
summary judgment on manufacturer’s
claim under the Lanham Act for fraud in
procuring a trademark registration. Lan-
ham Act, § 14(3), 15 U.S.C.A. § 1064(3).

20. Trademarks €~1382

Fraud in procuring a trademark regis-
tration or renewal occurs when an appli-
cant knowingly makes false, material rep-
resentations of fact in connection with its
application. Lanham Act, § 14(3), 15
U.S.C.A. § 1064(3).

21. Trademarks &=1384

A party seeking damages for fraudu-
lent registration under the Lanham Act
bears a heavy burden, and must prove
fraud by clear and convincing evidence.
Lanham Act, § 1 et seq., 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1051 et seq.

22. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2515

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether surgical equipment
manufacturer took sufficient steps to pro-
tect information regarding its cost of goods
sold, profit margins, marketing budget,
overhead expenses and revenues, preclud-
ing summary judgment on its misappropri-
ation of trade secrets claim against former
employee and competing manufacturer.
W.S.A. 134.90.

23. Antitrust and Trade
&=413, 419

To be a trade secret under Wisconsin
law, information must have value from not
being generally known and be the subject
of efforts to maintain its secrecy that are
reasonable under the circumstances; such
efforts must go beyond normal business
practices like restricting access and requir-
ing passwords, and an employer must use
additional measures to protect the confi-

Regulation
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dentiality of information he considers to be
a trade secret. W.S.A. 134.90(1).

24. Antitrust and Trade
&=417, 419
Wisconsin law does not require abso-
lute secrecy for information to constitute a
trade secret, but one who claims a trade
secret must exercise eternal vigilance in

Regulation

protecting its confidentiality. @~ W.S.A.

134.90(1).

25. Antitrust and Trade Regulation
=419

In determining whether a company
has fulfilled exercised vigilance in protect-
ing confidentiality of information, as re-
quired for that information to constitute a
trade secret, Wisconsin courts consider
whether the company negotiated confiden-
tiality agreements, kept documents locked
up, limited access to information, restrict-
ed building access, denoted documents as
confidential, informed individuals that in-
formation was confidential, and allowed in-
dividuals to keep information after the
business relationship had ended. W.S.A.
134.90(1).

26. Antitrust and Trade
&=433

Federal Civil Procedure €=2515

The question of whether a party took
sufficient measures to protect the confi-
dentiality of an alleged trade secret is
generally a question of fact for the jury;
only in an extreme case can what is a
reasonable precaution be determined on a
motion for summary judgment.

27. Federal Civil Procedure €=2515

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether former employee owed
duty to manufacturer to maintain confiden-
tiality of cost of goods sold, profit margins,
marketing budget, overhead expenses and
revenues, precluding summary judgment
on manufacturer’s misappropriation of

Regulation
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trade secrets claim against former employ-
ee and competing manufacturer that em-
ployee helped create. W.S.A. 134.90.

28. Federal Civil Procedure <2515

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to who created information used to
obtain Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) approval of surgical equipment,
precluding summary judgment on equip-
ment manufacturer’s misappropriation of
trade secrets claim against former employ-
ee. W.S.A. 134.90.

29. Federal Civil Procedure 2493

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether inventor of surgical
equipment honestly believed that he owned
“WITTMAN PATCH” mark at the time he
created a website to sell the equipment,
precluding summary judgment on equip-
ment manufacturer’s claim for violation of
the Anti-Cybersquatting Consumer Pro-
tection Act (ACPA). Anticybersquatting
Consumer Protection Act,
§ 1000(2)(9)[3002(a) 1, 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1125(d), (d)(1)(B)(i).

30. Trademarks 1502

Surgical equipment inventor acted in
bad faith, in violation of the Anti-Cybers-
quatting  Consumer  Protection Act
(ACPA), by removing all information from
equipment manufacturer’s website shortly
before launching his own equipment manu-
facturing company, and in attempting to
sell the information and website back to

the manufacturer.  Anticybersquatting
Consumer Protection Act,
§ 1000(a)(9)[3002(a) 1, 15 U.S.C.A.
§ 1125(d).

31. Conspiracy <=8

Under Wisconsin law, malice is an
integral element of a claim for conspiracy
to injure its business. W.S.A. 134.01.

32. Federal Civil Procedure €=2491.7

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether former employee of
surgical equipment manufacturer acted
with malice in agreeing to start a business
with others to compete with the manufac-
turer, precluding summary judgment on
manufacturer’s claim for conspiracy to in-
jure business: W.S.A. 134.01.

33. Limitation of Actions ¢=95(3)

Generally, under Wisconsin law, a tort
claim accrues when the injury is discover-
ed or reasonably should have been discov-
ered. W.S.A. 893.57.

34. Limitation of Actions ¢=55(6)

Under Wisconsin law, the continuing
violation doctrine is an exception to the
rule that a tort claim accrues when the
injury is discovered or reasonably should
have been discovered; it provides that
when a single act gives rise to continuing
injuries or when a series of acts gives rise
to a cumulative injury, a plaintiff can reach
back to the beginning even if it is outside
the statute of limitations. W.S.A. 893.57.

35. Limitation of Actions ¢=58(1)

Under Wisconsin law, the continuing
violation doctrine does not apply to situa-
tions in which there is a single act with
lingering effects; an untimely suit cannot
be revived by pointing to effects within the
limitations period of unlawful acts that oc-
curred earlier. W.S.A. 893.57.

36. Limitation of Actions €&=55(6)

Under Wisconsin’s two year statute of
limitations for tort claims, only unlawful
acts which take place within the limitations
period are actionable; a lingering effect is
not itself an unlawful act, and a refusal to
correct the effects of a violation is also not
an unlawful act. W.S.A. 893.57.
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37. Limitation of Actions €=55(6), 99(1)

The checks that majority shareholder
received as company employee after he
allegedly improperly raised his own salary
were lingering effects of the allegedly im-
proper salary increase, and thus did not
constitute a continuing violation that would
operated to toll Wisconsin’s two-year stat-
ute of limitations for tort claims, including
minority shareholder’s breach of fiduciary
duty and shareholder oppression claims.
W.S.A. 893.57.

38. Limitation of Actions €=55(1), 99(1)

Minority shareholders claims for
breach of fiduciary duty and shareholder
oppression accrued, and Wisconsin’s two
year statute of limitations for tort claims
began to run, on the date that majority
shareholder increased his own salary as a
company employee. W.S.A. 893.57.

39. Federal Civil Procedure <2513

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether minority shareholder
adequately represented corporation’s in-
terests, precluding summary judgment on
minority shareholders derivative claim for
misappropriation of  funds. W.S.A.
180.0741.

40. Corporations and Business Organi-
zations 2032

In determining whether a shareholder
can adequately represent a corporation’s
interests in a derivative action, Wisconsin
courts look to the remedies the sharehold-
er seeks, the degree of support the share-
holder has from other shareholders and
the shareholder’s motives and loyalty to
the company. W.S.A. 180.0741.

41. Federal Civil Procedure ¢=2513

A genuine dispute of material fact ex-
isted as to whether majority shareholder
of medical equipment manufacturer mar-
keted competing product, precluding sum-

40 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT, 3d SERIES

mary judgment on minority shareholder’s
breach of fiduciary duty claim.

42. Corporations and Business Organi-
zations &=1589

Minority shareholder’s conclusory al-
legations that majority shareholder of cor-
poration that created surgical equipment
did not investigate alternatives to a pro-
duction company to manufacture the
equipment were insufficient, at summary
judgment stage, to support prima facie
case for breach of fiduciary duty.

43. Corporations and Business Organi-
zations &=1842, 1910

The business judgment rule shields
corporate officers from liability for deci-
sions made in good faith and creates an
evidentiary presumption that an officer or
director’s decisions are made in good faith.

Trademarks €=1800
STAR PATCH.

Trademarks =1800
STARSURGICAL.

Trademarks 1800
WITTMAN PATCH.

Daniel M. Janssen, Johanna M. Wilbert,
Patrick J. Murphy, Quarles & Brady LLP,
Milwaukee, WI, for Plaintiff/Third Party
Defendant.

David V. Meany, Olivia M. Kelley, De-
witt Ross & Stevens SC, Brookfield, WI,
Joseph T. Leone, Joseph A. Ranney, De-
witt Ross & Stevens SC, Madison, WI,
Daniel J. Habeck, Peter J. Plaushines,
Cramer Multhauf & Hammes LLP,
Waukesha, WI, for Defendant/Third-Party
Plaintiff.



STARSURGICAL INC. v. APERTA, LLC

1075

Cite as 40 F.Supp.3d 1069 (E.D.Wis. 2014)

DECISION AND ORDER

LYNN ADELMAN, District Judge.

In June 2000, Michael Deutsch and Dr.
Dietmar Wittmann formed Starsurgical,
Inc. (“Star”), a Wisconsin corporation.
Subsequently, they had a falling out result-
ing in the present diversity case. In 1987,
Wittmann, an employee of the Medical
College of Wisconsin (“MCW?”), invented a
patch used to cover large incisions made
during abdominal surgery. Later, Witt-
mann signed an Invention Memorandum
assigning his rights in the patch to MCW’s
research foundation in exchange for a por-
tion of future royalties. MCW in turn
granted a license to Deutsch to manufac-
ture and sell the patch.

Sale of the patch in the United States
required the approval of the Food and
Drug Administration (“FDA”). Deutsch
asked MCW and Wittmann for data sup-
porting his application for FDA approval,
and Wittmann provided him with informa-
tion about the patch. When Deutsch and
Wittmann created Star, Deutsch assigned
his rights to manufacture and distribute
the patch and the FDA certification to
Star and became president of the corpora-
tion and a 51% shareholder. Wittmann
became vice president and a 49% share-
holder. Wittmann’s wife, Heide Witt-
mann (“Heide”), became treasurer. Star’s
bylaws gave Deutsch, as majority share-
holder, power to remove Wittmann as a
director, but Wittmann claims Deutsch
orally agreed that he would always be a
director. Deutsch denies this.

Deutsch and Wittmann agreed that ini-
tially they would receive only nominal com-
pensation and that Deutsch would be re-
sponsible for the day-to-day administration
of Star, including patch production, quality
control and marketing. Wittmann provid-
ed names of potential customers, assisted
with marketing efforts and procured some
of the materials needed for manufacturing

the patch. He also used his own funds to
procure Star’s www.starsurgical.com do-
main name and created and operated what
became the company’s principal website.
He listed Star as the owner of the site and
himself as the site’s administrator. Heide
kept Star’s books. Deutsch suggested us-
ing the trademark WITTMANN PATCH
to sell the patch, and Wittmann agreed to
allow Star to use his name. On April 25,
2000, Star began using the mark and in
2001, Deutsch assigned his rights in the
mark to Star and registered it with the
Wisconsin Secretary of State. In 2002,
Wittmann applied to the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office (“USPTO”) for registra-
tion of the same mark in his name. Star
did not oppose his application and in 2004,
the USPTO registered the trademark to
Wittmann.

Deutsch and Wittmann had a number of
disagreements and in November 2002,
Deutsch removed Wittmann and Heide
from their positions. Deutsch also amend-
ed Star’s by-laws to provide for a one-
member board and increased his salary.
Since then, Deutsch has been Star’s sole
director and board member. Around 2006,
Deutsch developed an Expandable Tempo-
rary Abdominal Closure (“XTAC”) patch
through Acute Care Surgical, LLC
(“ACS”), another company he owned. In
July 2007, Deutsch obtained FDA approval
for the XTAC patch, which was somewhat
similar to the Wittmann Patch, but it
turned out to be a commercial failure. In
2009, Star’s sole supplier of Wittmann
Patches, Preservation Solutions, Inc.
(“PSI”), informed Deutsch that it could no
longer manufacture the Wittmann Patch
because it was losing money. Deutsch
offered it a higher per patch price, and
PSI agreed to continue the relationship.
Subsequently, PSI performed regulatory
compliance-related services for Star in ad-
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dition to manufacturing the patch. In
2009, Deutsch again raised his salary.

In 2009, Wittmann created another cor-
poration, Aperta, Inc. (“Aperta”), and
Aperta applied for FDA approval of a
patch identical to the Wittmann patch but
larger and capable of being re-opened
more times before having to be replaced.
In seeking FDA approval, Wittmann used
the same information that Deutsch had
used to obtain approval for the Wittmann
Patch. In July 2010, Wittmann created
NovoMedicus, LLC (“Novo”) to sell surgi-
cal kits containing the new patch and hired
Paul van Deventer as its president and
Wittmann’s son, Dr. Mark Wittmann
(“Mark”), as a consultant. Heide also per-
formed services for Novo. In September
2010, at a trade show Deutsch learned of
the existence of Novo and that it was using
the WITTMANN PATCH mark to sell
competing patches. Novo called its surgi-
cal kits “Wittmann Hypopacks” and dis-
tributed them in boxes listing a “Wittmann
Patch” as one of the components. It also
distributed marketing materials stating
that the Wittmann Hypopack and Witt-
mann Patch were protected by trademarks
and that other companies manufacturing
or marketing the Wittmann Patch were in
violation of such marks.

On the eve of the trade show, Wittmann,
who had continued to administer Star’s
website, removed all of its content and
replaced it with a page listing the www.
starsurgical.com domain name as being for
sale. The email address and phone num-
ber listed on the site belonged to Deutsch.
Star asserts that Wittmann did this to help
Novo, but Wittmann states that he did it
because Star had failed to pay him $62,100
for operating its website. Star offered to
pay Wittmann $3000 to cover the registra-
tion fees he had paid out of his own pocket,
but Wittmann rejected the offer. Witt-
mann did not restore the site until 2012 by
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which point Star had developed a new site.
In December 2010, Novo sent emails to
some of Star’s customers stating that Novo
had not licensed the right to manufacture
or market the Wittmann Patch in the Unit-
ed States and that any company doing so
was violating Novo’s rights. Novo ulti-
mately failed and in July 2012, Wittmann
dissolved it. However, he continues to sell
patches using the Wittmann mark in Eu-
rope.

In the present case, in its third amended
complaint, Star asserts a variety of claims
against Wittmann and his associates, and
defendants move for summary judgment
on most of them. Star also moves for
summary judgment on several of them.
Defendants also assert counterclaims on
which Star seeks summary judgment. In
addition, Wittmann brings a third-party
complaint against Deutsch on which
Deutsch seeks summary judgment.

Summary judgment is appropriate
where “there is no genuine dispute as to
any material fact and the movant is enti-
tled to judgment as a matter of law.”
Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(a). When considering a
motion for summary judgment, I view the
evidence in the light most favorable to the
non-moving party and may grant the mo-
tion only if no reasonable jury could find
for that party. Anderson v. Liberty Lob-
by, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248, 255, 106 S.Ct.
2505, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986). Many of the
parties’ claims raise state law issues which
the parties agree are governed by Wiscon-
sin law.

As a preliminary matter, I address de-
fendants’s claim for declaratory judgment
and breach of contract. Defendants have
withdrawn the claims in the counterclaim
and third-party complaint for a declaratory
judgment related to the competition agree-
ment and appear to have withdrawn their
breach of contract claim. Defs.” Resp. to
Starsurgical’s and Mr. Deutsch’s Summ.
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J.M. at 49, ECF No. 188. Therefore I will
dismiss these claims.

I. Motions Relating to Star’s Claims

A. Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment on Star’s Breach of Fi-
duciary Duty Claim

[1,2] In Count 2, Star alleges that
Wittmann breached a fiduciary duty by
competing with it through Novo including
infringing on its trademarks, tortiously in-
terfering with its contracts with customers,
shutting down its website and misappro-
priating its trade secrets. Ordinarily, a
minority shareholder does not owe a cor-
poration a fiduciary duty. Star, however,
argues that the general rule is inapplicable
here because Star was and is a closely held
corporation, ie. a corporation with few
shareholders, no ready market for its stock
and substantial majority shareholder par-
ticipation in management. Some courts
have held that a minority shareholder in a
closely held corporation owes a duty of
loyalty both to the corporation and other
shareholders. See, e.g, Rexford Rand
Corp. v. Ancel, 58 F.3d 1215, 1218 (7th
Cir.1995) (applying Illinois law). These
courts theorize that a closely held corpora-
tion is like a partnership and thus its
shareholders owe a duty to each other and
the corporation similar to that of part-
ners—a duty to act in the “utmost good
faith and loyalty.” Donahue v. Rodd Elec-
trotype Co. of New England, Inc., 367
Mass. 578, 328 N.E.2d 505, 512-15 (1975).

[3,4] Under Wisconsin law, majority
shareholders in closely held corporations
owe a fiduciary duty to the corporation and
minority shareholders. See Grognet .
Fox Valley Trucking Serv., 45 Wis.2d 235,

1. I disagree with defendants’ argument that
in Sheppard the court of appeals held that a
minority shareholder in a closely held does
not owe a fiduciary duty to the corporation.

241, 172 N.W.2d 812 (1969). But the Wis-
consin Supreme Court has not determined
whether or not minority shareholders owe
a similar duty. See Estate of Sheppard ex
rel. McMorrow v. Specht, 344 Wis.2d 696,
702-03, 824 N.W.2d 907 (Ct.App.2012).
Thus, as a federal judge sitting in diversity
I must predict how the court would rule if
the present case were before it. Allstate
Ins. Co. v. Menards, Inc., 285 F.3d 630,
637 (Tth Cir.2002). In doing so, I look to
the rulings of the state court of appeals for
guidance, but that court has not addressed
the issue either.!

I believe that the state supreme court
would decline to impose a fiduciary duty
on a minority shareholder such as Witt-
mann. First, unlike a majority sharehold-
er a minority shareholder is not able to
control a corporation and affect other
shareholders’ rights. See Notz v. Everett
Smith Group, Ltd., 312 Wis.2d 636, 648,
754 N.W.2d 235 (Ct.App.2008), rev’d on
other grounds, 316 Wis.2d 640, 764 N.W.2d
904 (2009). Second, although Wisconsin
law has moved toward treating closely held
corporations more like partnerships, the
Wisconsin legislature has declined to im-
pose a fiduciary duty on minority share-
holders. Rather, in 1983, it enacted a
statute enabling close corporations to ob-
tain special protections, see Wis. Stat.
§ 180, such as operating without a board
of directors, restructuring the transfer of
stock and allowing shareholders to estab-
lish relationships like partners. Deutsch
and Wittmann could have incorporated
Star under this statute but did not. In
this context, I think it unlikely that the
state supreme court would create a fiducia-
ry duty in the present case.

Rather, the court declined to address the is-
sue simply stating that under existing law a
minority shareholder does not owe such a
duty. Id. at 702-03, 824 N.W.2d 907.
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Delaware, to which Wisconsin looks for
guidance on corporate law, Notz, 316
Wis.2d at 664, 764 N.W.2d 904, is instruc-
tive on this point: Its supreme court de-
clined to supplement the state’s close cor-
poration statute by creating a rule to
protect minority shareholders wishing to
sell their stock. Nixon v. Blackwell, 626
A.2d 1366, 1379-81 (Del.1993). The court
read the statute as preempting the field
noting that the shareholders could have
negotiated protections additional to those
provided by the statute but had not done
so. Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court
would likely conclude similarly. Illinois
law, on which Star relies, is distinguish-
able because unlike in Wisconsin, the Illi-
nois Supreme Court recognized that
shareholders in a close corporation owe
one another a fiduciary duty in certain
cases before the Illinois legislature enact-
ed a close corporation statute. Ill. Rock-
ford Corp. v. Kulp, 41 1ll.2d 215, 242
N.E.2d 228, 233 (1968).

Thus, Wittmann is entitled to summary
judgment on Star’s breach of fiduciary
claim.

B. Defendants’ motion for Summary
Judgment on Star’s Civil Conspir-
acy Claim

[56-7] In Count 5, Star claims that de-
fendants conspired to destroy it and used
unlawful means to do so. Under Wiscon-
sin law, a civil conspiracy is “a combination
of two or more persons by some concerted
action to accomplish some unlawful pur-
pose or to accomplish by unlawful means
some purpose not in itself unlawful.” Ra-
due v. Dill, 74 Wis.2d 239, 241, 246 N.W.2d
507 (1976). The plaintiff must present
facts showing some agreement between
the alleged conspirators on the common
end sought and some cooperation toward
the attainment of that end. Augustine v.
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Anti-Defamation League of B’Nai B’Rith,
75 Wis.2d 207, 216, 249 N.W.2d 547 (1977).

[8,9] Defendants argue that they can-
not be held liable for conspiracy because
they acted as agents of Novo and, thus,
are protected by the intra-corporate con-
spiracy doctrine which provides that corpo-
rate officers acting within the scope of
their employment cannot conspire with one
another or with the corporation. See Cop-
perweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp.,
467 U.S. 752, 769 & n. 15, 104 S.Ct. 2731,
81 L.Ed.2d 628 (1984); Dombrowski v.
Dowling, 459 F.2d 190, 193, 196 (7th Cir.
1972); Brew City Redevelopment Grp.,
LLC v. Ferchill Grp., 297 Wis.2d 606, 628
29, 724 N.W.2d 879 (2006). The doctrine is
based on the idea that officers’ acts are
acts of the corporation, and a corporation
cannot conspire with itself. Travis v.
Gary Cmty. Mental Health Ctr., Inc., 921
F.2d 108, 110 (7th Cir.1990). However,
the evidence suggests that defendants’
concerted action began before Wittmann
created Novo. On July 2, 2010, two weeks
before the formation of Novo, defendants
held a planning meeting, and defendant
Van Deventer’s notes indicate that the at-
tendees created Novo in part to compete
with and “make it financially stressful for
Star.” Murphy Decl. Ex. C, ECF No. 157-
28. Defendants respond that these pre-
Novo acts were, nevertheless, on behalf of
Novo. Until, however, it is organized, a
corporation does not exist, and persons
attempting to act for it are not agents of it.
Hinkley v. Sagemiller, 191 Wis. 512, 210
N.W. 839, 841 (1926). Thus, defendants
are not entitled to summary judgment on
Star’s civil conspiracy claim.

C. Both Parties’ Motions for Sum-
mary Judgment on Star’s Claims
Related to its Trademarks

[10-12] In Counts 8-10, Star brings
claims related to its trademarks. First, it
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alleges that defendants Wittmann, Novo,
Aperta and van Deventer infringed on its
unregistered WITTMANN PATCH trade-
mark in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) by
using it to sell Novo’s patches and seeks
summary judgment on this claim. To
prove trademark infringement, Star must
establish that it owns a protectable mark
and that defendants’ use of the mark was
likely to cause confusion among consumers
as to the origin of defendants’ product.
See Ty, Inc. v. Jones Grp., Inc., 237 F.3d
891, 898 (Tth Cir.2001). Wittmann’s certif-
icate of registration from the USPTO for
the WITTMANN PATCH mark is prima
facie evidence that he owns it. See 15
U.S.C. §§ 1057(b), 1115(a). Star’s state
registration does not carry such a pre-
sumption. However, “[t]he party who first
appropriates the mark through use, and
for whom the mark serves as a designation
of source, acquires superior rights to it.”
Johmny Blastoff, Inc. v. L.A. Rams Foot-
ball Co.,, 188 F.3d 427, 434-35 (7th Cir.
1999). Thus, Wittmann’s trademark is
subject to Star’s previously established
common law rights. Id.

Defendants concede that Star was the
first to use the WITTMANN PATCH
mark, that it has used it continuously since
2000 and that such use would ordinarily be
sufficient to establish ownership. None-
theless, they claim Wittmann owns the
mark because Star’s use of it inured to his
benefit under the related company doc-
trine, pursuant to which a trademark reg-
istrant can establish ownership of a mark
by showing that it was first used by a
“related company.” 15 U.S.C. § 1055. A
related company is one “controlled by the
registrant or applicant for registration in
respect to the nature and quality of the
goods or services in connection with which
the mark is used.” 15 U.S.C. § 1127.
“‘The critical question is whether [the al-
leged trademark owner] sufficiently po-
liced and inspected its licensees’ operations

to guarantee the quality of the products
sold under its trademark to the public.’”
Prneutek, Inc. v. Scherr, 211 U.S.P.Q. 824
(T.T.A.B.1981) (quoting Dawn Donut Co.
v. Hart’s Food Stores, Inc., 267 F.2d 358,
367 (2d Cir.1959)).

[13,14] Wittmann claims that he con-
trolled Star’s use of the mark and the
quality of its goods through a trademark
licensing agreement. A licensing agree-
ment is usually raised as a defense to
trademark infringement but can be offered
as evidence of ownership of a trademark.
See, e.g., Turner v. HMH Publg Co., 380
F.2d 224, 229 (5th Cir.1967). Wittmann
admits he had no written licensing agree-
ment with Star but claims an implied
agreement. Whether such an agreement
existed depends on whether, considering
the objective conduct of the parties, a rea-
sonable person would believe that an
agreement was reached. Villanova Univ.
v. Villanova Alumni Educ. Found., Inc.,
123 F.Supp.2d 293, 308 (E.D.Pa.2000) (cit-
ing U.S. Jaycees v. Phila. Jaycees, 639
F.2d 134 (3d Cir.1981)); see also McCoy v.
Mitsuboshi Cutlery, Inc., 67 F.3d 917, 920,
922 (Fed.Cir.1995).

[15] Wittmann argues that the fact
that Deutsch asked him for permission
before Star incorporated Wittmann’s name
into its trademark proves that Wittmann
gave Star a license to use his name. “The
name or likeness of a living person cannot
be used as a mark without express authori-
zation....” 2 J. Thomas MecCarthy,
McCarthy on Trademarks and Unfair
Competition § 13:26 (4th ed.). However,
Wittmann did not impose any restrictions
on Star’s right to use his name, and the
evidence shows that Deutsch controlled
the use of the WITTMANN PATCH
trademark and the nature and quality of
the goods sold under it. As Star’s vice
president, Wittmann may have had some
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control over product quality and the use of
the mark but far less than Deutsch who
controlled Star’s operation, including patch
production, quality control and marketing.
Deutsch overruled Wittmann’s objections
to Star’s marketing and pricing strategies
and ultimately removed Wittmann as a
director. Wittmann clearly did not have
authority to control Star’s use of the
WITTMANN PATCH trademark. And af-
ter he was removed as a director, Witt-
mann made no attempt to stop Star from
using his name to obtain control over the
mark. Rather, he allowed Star to continue
using the mark.

Thus, if anything, Wittmann gave Star a
“naked” trademark license under which
the licensor cannot control the licensee’s
use of the trademark. See Dawn Donut
Co., 267 F.2d at 367. Without such con-
trol, no reasonable jury could find that
Star was a related company and that its
use of the WITTMANN PATCH mark
inured to Wittmann’s benefit. Thus, I con-
clude that Star is the owner of the mark.
I also conclude that by failing to respond
to Star’s arguments on the point defen-
dants have conceded that their use of the
mark was likely to cause confusion. Thus,
Star is entitled to summary judgment on
this infringement claim against defendants
Wittmann, Novo, Aperta and van Deven-
ter.

[16-18] Star’s second trademark-relat-
ed claim is that defendants Wittmann,
Novo, Aperta and van Deventer infringed
the Starsurgical and Wittmann Patch
marks by using the STAR PATCH trade-
mark to sell Novo’s patches. Defendants
concede that Star owns the STARSURGI-
CAL trademark, and I have already con-
cluded that it owns the WITTMANN
PATCH mark. The only question is
whether defendants’ STAR PATCH mark
was confusingly similar to Star’s marks.
Star has consistently used the marks to-
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gether thus, I will consider them together.
See Schering—Plough Healthcare Prod-
ucts, Inc. v Ing-Jing Huang, 84
U.S.P.Q2d (BNA) 1323 (T.T.A.B.2007)
(setting out the conjoint use rule under
which two marks can be considered togeth-
er). “Whether consumers are likely to be
confused about the origin of a defendant’s
products or services is ultimately a ques-
tion of fact.” AutoZone, Inc. v. Strick, 543
F.3d 923, 929 (7th Cir.2008). Courts con-
sider seven factors: “(1) the similarity be-
tween the marks in appearance and sug-
gestion; (2) the similarity of the products;
(3) the area and manner of concurrent use;
(4) the degree and care likely to be exer-
cised by consumers; (5) the strength of
the plaintiff’s mark; (6) any actual confu-
sion; and (7) the intent of the defendants
to ‘palm off’ their product as that of anoth-
er.” Id.

Some of these factors favor Star and
some favor defendants. The Star and
WITTMANN PATCH marks, when con-
sidered together, are visually and aurally
similar to STAR PATCH. Defendants’
patches were almost identical to Star’s,
and they were sold to the same group of
customers and through the same channels
of trade. Star also presents evidence that
several consumers were actually confused
by the STAR PATCH trademark. Howev-
er, the degree of care likely to be exer-
cised by consumers is high because the
parties were selling a specialty product to
sophisticated consumers, including doctors
and hospitals. And the parties’ trade-
marks are not identical. Also, the fact
that the parties marketed their products at
the same trade shows gave customers the
opportunity to compare the product pack-
aging. Thus, I conclude that there is a
genuine dispute of material fact as to
whether defendants’ use of the STAR
PATCH trademark was likely to cause
confusion as to the origin of defendants’
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product, and, accordingly, will deny Star’s
motion for summary judgment on this
claim.

[19-21] Star’s last trademark-related
claim is that Wittmann violated 15 U.S.C.
§ 1120 by fraudulently registering the
WITTMANN PATCH trademark. Witt-
mann moves for summary judgment on
this claim. Section 1120 prohibits regis-
tering a mark by a “false or fraudulent
declaration or representation....”
“‘Fraud in procuring a trademark regis-
tration or renewal occurs when an appli-
cant knowingly makes false, material rep-
resentations of fact in connection with its
application.”” In re Bose Corp., 580 F.3d
1240, 1243 (Fed.Cir.2009) (quoting Torres
v. Cantine Torresella S.r.l., 808 F.2d 46, 48
(Fed.Cir.1986)). A party seeking damages
for fraudulent registration “bears a heavy
burden,” id., and must prove fraud by
clear and convincing evidence. Money
Store v. Harriscorp Fin. Inc., 689 F.2d
666, 670 (7th Cir.1982).

In his trademark application, Wittmann
declared that he had a right to register the
WITTMANN PATCH trademark because
“[alpplicant is using or is using through a
related company the mark in commerce on
or in connection with the below-identified
goods/services” and that he believed he
was “the owner of the trademark/service
mark sought to be registered . ..; [and] to
the best of his/her knowledge and belief no
other person, firm, corporation, or associa-
tion has the right to use the mark in
commerce. ...” Decl. of Dietmar Witt-
mann, Ex. 2, ECF No. 150-2. As an
example of his use of the trademark, Witt-
mann provided the USPTO with a picture
of a box containing one of Star’s patches
displaying the WITTMANN PATCH
mark. Star’s name was on the box, but
Wittmann cropped it out. Later, in his
December 2009 declaration of continued
use, he stated that, “[t]he mark has been

in continuous use in commerce for five (5)
consecutive years after the date of regis-
tration, or the date of publication under
Section 12(c), and is still in use in com-
merce.” Deutsch Decl. Ex. E, ECF No.
159-5. As part of the filing, he submitted
a specimen to illustrate his continuing use,
a photo of a package insert from a Witt-
mann Patch sold in Europe. He described
it as “[a] photograph of the package insert
that is currently distributed to surgeons
that use the device with the trademark.”
Id.

Star contends that Wittmann knew that
Star was not a related company, and Witt-
mann responds that he honestly believed
that he had licensed Star to use the trade-
mark and that he owned the mark based
on Star’s use of it. He points out that the
mark contains his name and that Star
asked him for permission to use it. I
conclude that a jury must decide what
Wittmann believed when he filed his appli-
cation in 2002 and his subsequent declara-
tion of continued use in 2009. By 2009,
Wittmann had been out of Star for over
seven years. He had been excluded from
management and had no access to Star’s
product packaging. Thus, there is a genu-
ine issue as to whether he reasonably be-
lieved that Star was still a related compa-

ny.

D. Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment on Star’s Tortious In-
terference with Contract Claim

In Count 4, Star alleges that defendants
tortiously interfered with its contractual
relationship with several customers by ad-
vising them that Star was infringing on
Novo’s intellectual property rights. Defen-
dants move for summary judgment on this
claim but focus on Star’s relationship with
PSI, presenting no argument related to
Star’s relationship with its customers.
Thus, their motion will be denied.
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E. Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment on Star’s Misappropria-
tion of Trade Secrets Claim

[22] In Count 7, Star claims that Witt-
mann, Heide and Novo violated Wis. Stat.
§ 134.90 by misappropriating its trade se-
crets and using them to help Novo. Specifi-
cally, Star contends that defendants misap-
propriated financial data, including the
“cost of goods sold, profit margins, mar-
keting budget, overhead expenses and rev-
enues,” and information used to obtain
FDA approval of the Wittmann Patch.
Pl’s Br. in Opp. at 52, ECF No. 160.
Defendants move for summary judgment
arguing that neither financial data nor in-
formation submitted to the FDA consti-
tutes a “trade secret” because Star failed
to keep it secret.

[23-25] To be a trade secret under
§ 134.90(1)(¢) information must have val-
ue from not being generally known and
be “the subject of efforts to maintain its
secrecy that are reasonable under the cir-
cumstances.” Such efforts must go be-
yond “normal business practices” like re-
stricting access and requiring passwords;
“[aln employer must use additional meas-
ures to protect the confidentiality of infor-
mation he considers to be a trade secret.”
Maxpower Corp. v. Abraham, 557
F.Supp.2d 955, 961 (W.D.Wis.2008). The
statute does not require “absolute secre-
cy,” see Fail-Safe LLC v. A.O. Smith
Corp., 744 F.Supp.2d 831, 856 (E.D.Wis.
2010), but “one who claims a trade secret
must exercise eternal vigilance in protect-
ing its confidentiality.” RTE Corp. wv.
Coatings, Inc, 84 Wis.2d 105, 119, 267
N.W.2d 226 (1978). In determining
whether companies have fulfilled this re-
quirement, Wisconsin courts consider
whether the company negotiated confiden-
tiality agreements, kept documents locked
up, limited access to information, restrict-
ed building access, denoted documents as
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“confidential,” informed individuals that
information was confidential, and allowed
individuals to keep information after the
business relationship had ended. See
BondPro Corp. v. Siemens Power Genera-
tton Inc, 463 F.3d 702 (Tth Cir.2006);
Fail-Safe LLC v. A.O. Smith Corp., 744
F.Supp.2d at 857-58; La Calhene, Inc. v.
Spolyar, 938 F.Supp. 523 (W.D.Wis.1996).

[26] The question of whether a party
took sufficient measures to protect the
confidentiality of an alleged trade secret is
generally a question of fact for the jury.
Learning Curve Toys, Inc. v. PlayWood
Toys, Inc., 342 F.3d 714, 725-26 (Tth Cir.
2003). “[Olnly in an extreme case can
what is a ‘reasonable’ precaution be deter-
mined on a motion for summary judg-
ment.” Rockwell Graphic Sys., Inc. wv.
DEV Indus., Inc., 925 F.2d 174, 179 (Tth
Cir.1991). In the present case, Deutsch
asserts that Star’s cost of goods sold, prof-
it margins, marketing budget, overhead
expenses and revenues are all confidential
and secret and that Star took reasonable
steps to maintain their secrecy. Deutsch
also states that the data was in electronic
format, was password-protected and access
was restricted to him and other employees
and independent contractors who need the
information to perform their job. Star
does not ask employees or independent
contractors to sign a confidentiality agree-
ment but Deutsch states that he has dis-
cussed confidentiality and its importance
with employees and a contractors. In re-
gard to the information related to FDA
approval, Deutsch asserts that access to
the information relating to FDA approval
was restricted to himself and kept in a
locked cabinet in a locked office in a locked
building. This testimony raises a genuine
issue of material fact concerning whether
Star took sufficient measures to protect
the secrecy of the information in question.
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[27] Defendants also seek judgment on
Star’s trade secret misappropriation claim
on the ground that it has not shown that
defendants acquired the financial data or
the FDA approval information “under cir-
cumstances giving rise to a duty to main-
tain its secrecy or limit its use.” Wis.
Stat. § 134.90(2). Defendants argue that
they owed no duty of confidentiality re-
garding the information at issue because
Deutsch never advised them that the infor-
mation was confidential or asked them to
sign confidentiality agreements. Star re-
sponds that Wittmann obtained access to
its trade secrets by virtue of his sharehold-
er status and Heide because she was the
company’s treasurer. It also points to
Deutsch’s testimony that he talked to de-
fendants about confidentiality. Although
Wittmann’s role as minority shareholder
did not ipso facto create a duty of confi-
dentiality, taking the facts in the light
most favorable to Star, a reasonable jury
could find an implicit agreement between
the Wittmanns and Star to keep the finan-
cial data and the FDA approval informa-
tion confidential.

[28] Finally, defendants argue that the
FDA approval information belongs to
Wittmann not Star or Deutsch. They as-
sert that such information was not perma-
nently assigned to Deutsch and Star and
that their rights to it expired in 2007.
Alternatively, defendants argue that the
Invention Memorandum did not apply to
future work, and Wittmann’s work on the
FDA approval occurred after the Inven-
tion Memorandum. Star responds that
any information related to the FDA ap-
proval Wittmann obtained prior to his
work at Star was assigned to Deutsch by
MCW, Wittmann’s employer at the time,
and therefore belongs to Star and Deutsch,
not Wittmann. Additionally, Star argues
that any information Wittmann developed
after the 1992 licensing agreement was the

property of his employer, MCW (citing
Teets v. Chromalloy Gas Turbine Corp., 83
F.3d 403 (Fed.Cir.1996)). Despite the fact
that the licensing agreement between
Deutsch and MCW appears to have ex-
pired in 2007, the information would still
not revert to Wittmann but to MCW which
licensed the information to Deutsch in the
first place. Further, this dispute raises
issues of material fact, including who “cre-
ated” the information relevant to the FDA
approval, when the information was creat-
ed, and Wittmann’s role in obtaining FDA
approval. Thus, defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on Star’s misappropri-
ation of trade secrets claim will be denied.

F. The Parties’ Motions for Partial
Summary Judgment on Star’s Cy-
bersquatting Claim

[29] In Count 6, Star alleges that de-
fendants violated 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d), the
Anticybersquatting Consumer Protection
Act (ACPA), by wrongful use of two do-
main names, www.wittmanpatch.com and
www.starsurgical.com. Defendants move
for partial summary judgment on Star’s
claim relating to domain name www.
wittmanpatch.com. Star moves for partial
summary judgment on its cybersquatting
claim relating to the domain name www.
starsurgical.com. To prevail on an ACPA
claim, a plaintiff must show that (1) the
mark is distinctive or famous, (2) that the
domain name is “identical or confusingly
similar to that mark,” (3) that the defen-
dant registered, trafficked in, or used the
domain name, and (4) that the defendant
had “a bad faith intent to profit from that
mark.” 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d). In deter-
mining whether bad faith existed, courts
consider a number of factors specified in
15 US.C. § 1125(d)(1)(B)(). The statute
also includes a safe harbor provision stat-
ing that bad faith intent “shall not be
found in any case in which the court deter-
mines that the person believed and had
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reasonable grounds to believe that the use
of the domain name was fair use or other-
wise lawful.” § 1125(d)(1)(B)(ii).

Star alleges that defendants acted in
bad faith when they registered the domain
name www.wittmanpatch.com and similar
domain names, arguing that defendants in-
tended to divert business from Star to
Novo and to cause confusion between their
products. Wittmann claims he honestly
believed that he, not Star, owned the
WITTMAN PATCH mark. He points out
that the mark contains his name, that he
invented it, that it is associated with him in
the medical community and that he never
used the domain name to compete with
Star. Thus, there are facts suggesting that
Wittmann acted in good faith, and facts
suggesting the contrary. Star owned the
WITTMAN PATCH mark; the domain
name is identical to that mark; Star used
the mark for years before Wittmann regis-
tered the domain name and there is evi-
dence of customer confusion. Thus, there
is a genuine issue of material fact, and
defendants’ motion for summary judgment
on the cybersquatting claim as to www.
wittmanpatch.com must be denied.

[30] With respect to the domain name
www.starsurgical.com, Star argues that
the Star mark is presumptively distinctive
because it is a registered trademark, that
it owns the mark, that the domain name is
identical to the mark, and that Wittmann
acted in bad faith when he removed the
content of the webpage and tried to sell it
back to Star. Defendants dispute that
Wittmann acted in bad faith asserting that
his actions represented a good-faith effort
to obtain reimbursement for expenses and
compensation for setting up the website.
They also contend that they attempted to
avoid confusion and harm to Star by di-
recting website viewers to Star.

Taking the evidence in a light most fa-
vorable to defendants, I conclude that no
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reasonable jury could find that defendants
acted in good faith. First, defendants had
no right in the mark Starsurgical, and the
domain name was identical to the mark.
Second, unlike www.wittmanpatch.com, the
domain does not contain Wittmann’s name.
Third, defendants never used www.
starsurgical.com for business purposes ex-
cept in relation to their employment at
Star. Fourth, Star presents undisputed ev-
idence that supports the conclusion that
Wittmann intended to at best create a
likelihood of confusion and at worst divert
consumers. Specifically, Wittmann re-
moved the content of the website in 2010
shortly before launching Novo. Wittmann
did not inform Star of what he had done.
Star found out after the September 2010
trade show, where it distributed pro-
motional materials directing customers to
www.starsurgical.com. These facts indicate
that defendants intended to confuse con-
sumers as to Star’s continued existence.
No reasonable jury could find the timing
coincidental. Wittmann’s argument that
he did not act in bad faith because he was
using the website as leverage to obtain
reimbursement for his work on the site
also cuts against him. He presents no
evidence that the compensation he sought,
over $60,000, was bargained for. More-
over, he used such leverage in order to
profit which itself is an indicia of bad faith.
DSPT Int’l, Inc. v. Nahum, 624 F.3d 1213,
1219-20 (9th Cir.2010) (“As for whether
use to get leverage in a business dispute
can establish a violation, the statutory fac-
tors for ‘bad faith intent’ establish that it
can.”’). Nor is his invocation of the safe
harbor provision persuasive. Here, defen-
dants used the www.starsurgical.com do-
main name to confuse Star’s customers
and as leverage in financial negotiations.
Thus, Star is entitled to partial summary
judgment on this claim.
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G. Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment on Star’s Conspiracy to
Injure Business Claim

[31,32] In Count 1, Star alleges that
defendants conspired to injure its business,
in violation of Wis. Stat. § 134.01 which
bars “[a]ny 2 or more persons” from “com-
bin[ing] ... for the purpose of willfully or
maliciously injuring another in his or her
reputation, trade, business or profession.”
An injured party may bring a damage
action under this statute. Brew City Re-
development Grp., LLC, 297 Wis.2d at 617,
724 N.W.2d 879. Defendants seek sum-
mary judgment on this claim arguing that
they neither acted with malice nor com-
bined. “Malice is an integral element” of a
claim under Wis. Stat. § 134.01. Maleki v.
Fine-Lando Clinic Chartered, S.C., 162
Wis.2d 73, 86, 469 N.W.2d 629 (1991). To
be malicious, an action must go beyond
competition “that incidentally harms an-
other when the purpose [of the action] is to
improve one’s competitive advantage.” Id.
at 87 n. 9, 469 N.W.2d 629. The conduct
must be “intended to cause harm for
harm’s sake.” Id. at 86, 469 N.W.2d 629.

Defendants argue that their actions
were competitive rather than intended to
cause harm for harm’s sake. However,
Star contends that defendants intended to
injure it by reducing the value of its shares
in an effort to force Deutsch to sell his
shares to Wittmann or go out of business.
Star cites Wittmann’s feeling of “betrayal”
by Deutsch, his removal of Star’s content
from the www.starsurgical.com website de-
fendants’ attempt to recruit PSI from Star,
the use of the WITTMAN PATCH trade-
mark without Star’s consent and the distri-
bution of promotional materials implying
that Star was infringing on defendants’
trademark rights. Viewed in a light most
favorable to Star, a reasonable jury could

find that defendants were motivated by
more than a drive to compete.

As to whether defendants combined, the
intracorporate conspiracy doctrine, dis-
cussed in the context of Star’s civil con-
spiracy claim, also applies to its conspiracy
to injure business claim. See Brew City
Redevelopment Grp., LLC, 297 Wis.2d at
628-29, 724 N.W.2d 879. Again, I con-
clude that defendants are not entitled to
summary judgment because there is evi-
dence suggesting that the alleged conspi-
ratorial acts began before Wittmann creat-
ed Novo.

H. Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment on Star’s Common Law
Unfair Competition Claims

In Count 3, Star alleges unfair competi-
tion. There are several types of common
law unfair competition claims. See Desclee
& Cie., S.A. v. Nemmers, 190 F.Supp. 381,
386 (E.D.Wis.1961) (distinguishing two cat-
egories of unfair competition claims); Mer-
cury Record Prods., Inc. v. Econ. Consul-
tants, Inc., 64 Wis.2d 163, 173-74, 218
N.W.2d 705 (1974) (recognizing three
causes of action under the common law
unfair competition doctrine); Restatement
(Third) of Unfair Competition § 1 (1995)
(listing at least three distinct acts that give
rise to liability); see also Echo Travel, Inc.
v. Travel Associates, Inc. 870 F.2d 1264,
1266 (7th Cir.1989) (outlining the elements
of unfair competition based on trademark
infringement). The parties here do not
discuss the different types of claims.
They agree that the fate of Star’s unfair
competition claim depends on the outcome
of other of its claims such as its breach of
fiduciary duty, misappropriation of trade
secrets, and tortious interference claims.
Because I denied defendants’ summary
judgment motion in two of the three men-
tioned underlying tort claims, I will deny it
here as well.
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II. Motions Relating to Defendants’
Claims

Defendants’ bring a variety of claims
against Star and Deutsch but have
dropped some of them. I address here the
motions by Star and Deutsch addressing
what appear to be defendants’ remaining
claims.

A. Deutsch’s Motion for Summary
Judgment on Wittmann’s Breach
of Fiduciary Duty/Shareholder
Oppression Claim relating to
Deutsch’s Raises

In Count 3 of the third party complaint,
Wittmann asserts that Deutsch breached
his fiduciary duty to Wittmann, as a mi-
nority shareholder, and engaged in share-
holder oppression by compensating himself
unreasonably without comparably compen-
sating Wittmann. Deutsch contends that
Wittmann’s claim regarding the 2002 raise
is barred by the two-year statute of limita-
tions in § 893.57. He contends that Witt-
mann’s claim acerued in 2002, when
Deutsch gave himself a raise and that it is
therefore time-barred. Wittmann argues
that the continuing violation rule applies
and that a new claim accrued each time
Deutsch received a paycheck.

[33-36] Generally, a tort claim accrues
when the injury is discovered or reason-
ably should have been discovered. Stuart
v. Weisflog’s Showroom Gallery, Inc., 308
Wis.2d 103, 116-17, 746 N.W.2d 762 (2008).
The continuing violation doctrine is an ex-
ception to this general rule. It provides
that when a single act gives rise to con-
tinuing injuries or when a series of acts
gives rise to a cumulative injury, a plaintiff
can reach back to the beginning even if it
is outside the statute of limitations.
Heard v. Sheahan, 253 F.3d 316, 319-20
(7th Cir.2001). However, the continuing
violation doctrine does not apply to situa-
tions in which there is a single act with

40 FEDERAL SUPPLEMENT, 3d SERIES

lingering effects. “An untimely ... suit
cannot be revived by pointing to effects
within the limitations period of unlawful
acts that occurred earlier.” Dasgupta v.
Univ. of Wis. Bd. of Regents, 121 F.3d
1138, 1139 (7th Cir.1997). Only unlawful
acts which take place within the limitations
period are actionable. Id. A lingering ef-
fect is not itself an unlawful act, and a
refusal to correct the effects of a violation
is also not an unlawful act. Id.

[37] In this case, Deutsch gave himself
allegedly improper raises in 2002 and 2009.
I conclude, however, that the checks he
subsequently received reflecting these
raises are the effects of the raises and not
themselves actionable. Wittmann knew of
these raises when they occurred and could
have brought a claim. To allow him to
wait until years later “would render the
statute of limitations for breach of fiducia-
ry duties ... effectively meaningless.” In
re Gerhard G. Poehling Family Trust, 348
Wis.2d 763, No. 2012-AP-1817, 2013 WL
208894 at *10-11 (Ct.App. May 16, 2013)
(concluding that the continuing violation
exception does not apply to discrete acts,
which are acts that “occurred independent-
ly, could be distinguished on an individual
basis, and had corresponding, ascertain-
able injuries”). Defendant cites Noonan
v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 276 Wis.2d 33,
687 N.W.2d 254 (Ct.App.2004), in which
each underpayment of an annual dividend
was treated as a separate breach. But in
Noonan, the insurer had a contractual
duty to pay dividends annually, and each
year it made a discrete decision to under-
pay. In the present case, Deutsch did not
make a discrete decision each time he re-
ceived a paycheck; rather the paychecks
were merely lingering effects.

[38] However, Wittmann brought this
suit within two years of the 2009 raise.
Deutsch argues that it should not be con-
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sidered a discrete decision, but an effect of
the 2002 raise. I disagree. The raise in
2009 was a separate, discrete act and the
statute of limitations had not run when
Wittmann commenced this action.

B. Deutsch’s Motion for Summary
Judgment on Wittmann’s Breach
of Fiduciary Duty/Shareholder
Derivative Claims relating to
Deutsch’s Alleged Misappropria-
tion of Funds, Competition with
Star and Excessive Payment to
PSI

[39,40] In Count 2 of his third party
complaint, Wittmann alleges that Deutsch
breached his fiduciary duty to Star deriva-
tively and/or to himself as a minority
shareholder, by misappropriating funds to
assist ACS, a company Deutsch owned, in
marketing and selling XTAC in competi-
tion with Star and by paying unreasonably
high prices to PSI for supplying Wittmann
Patches. Deutsch first challenges Witt-
mann’s right to bring a shareholder deriv-
ative claim. Under Wis. Stat. § 180.0741,
a shareholder must “fairly and adequately
represent the interests of the corporation”
in order to bring a derivative action. In
determining whether a shareholder can ad-
equately represent a corporation’s inter-
ests in a derivative action, Wisconsin
courts look to the remedies the sharehold-
er seeks, the degree of support the share-
holder has from other shareholders and
the shareholder’s motives and loyalty to
the company. Read v. Read, 205 Wis.2d
558, 567-69, 556 N.W.2d 768 (Ct.App.1996).

In the present case, Wittmann seeks a
mix of remedies on behalf of Star and
himself, including corporate dissolution, a
particularly harsh remedy. However, he
has a substantial interest in Star, 49%, and
is the only person able to -challenge
Deutsch’s allegedly wrongful conduct.
Deutsch argues that Wittmann’s motives

are malicious and that he formed Novo to
harm Star. He cites Wittmann’s deposition
testimony that he formed Novo to force
Deutsch to merge the companies and dis-
counts Wittmann’s later declaration that
he formed Novo to promote education and
provide the Wittmann Patch at an afforda-
ble price. As previously discussed, Witt-
mann’s motive for forming Novo is a credi-
bility issue for the jury. I conclude that
whether Wittmann fairly and adequately
represents Star’s interests is also an issue
for the jury.

[41] Next, Deutsch asks me to grant
summary judgment on Wittmann’s breach
of fiduciary duty claim as it relates to
Deutsch’s marketing of XTAC. He asserts
that Star and Wittmann suffered no injury
because Deutsch used his own funds, that
XTAC failed to make a profit, and Star
lost no customers because of it. In re-
sponse, Wittmann asserts that ACS sold
some XTAC, and that certain of Deutsch’s
emails could enable a reasonable juror to
view him as marketing XTAC rather than
the Wittmann Patch. Taking the facts in
his favor, Wittmann presents enough to
withstand Deutsch’s motion.

[42,43] Finally, Deutsch asks me to
dismiss Wittmann’s breach of fiduciary
duty claim as it relates to Deutsch’s deci-
sion to pay PSI a higher price for supply-
ing the patches based on the business
judgment rule. The business judgment
rule shields corporate officers from liabili-
ty for decisions made in good faith and
creates an evidentiary presumption that an
officer or director’s decisions are made in
good faith. Reget v. Paige, 242 Wis.2d
278, 294-95, 626 N.W.2d 302 (Ct.App.
2001); Einhorn v. Culea, 235 Wis.2d 646,
656, 612 N.W.2d 78 (2000). To survive
Deutsch’s motion, Wittmann must estab-
lish a prima facie case that Deutsch’s ac-
tion was overreaching, fraudulent, or un-
reasonable. Reget, 242 Wis.2d at 294-97,
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626 N.W.2d 302. Wittmann asserts that
Deutsch did not investigate alternatives to
PSI and that, if he had, he could have
obtained a better price. He also asserts
that Deutsch was afraid of change and that
he acted to protect ACS’s relationship with
PSI. However, these assertions are largely
conclusory and fail to satisfy the prima
facie case requirement. Therefore, as to
this claim, Deutsch’s motion will be grant-
ed.

C. Deutsch’s Motion for Summary
Judgment on Wittmann’s Unjust
Enrichment Claim

In Count 5 of his third party complaint,
Wittmann alleges that Deutsch unjustly
enriched himself when he raised his salary.
Deutsch argues that this claim is barred
by laches, an equitable doctrine which bars
claims that proponents delay asserting.
Zizzo v. Lakeside Steel & Mfg. Co., 312
Wis.2d 463, 469-70, 752 N.W.2d 889 (Ct.
App.2008). Both parties agree that when
determining whether laches bars a claim I
am guided by applicable statutes of limita-
tions. Deutsch argues that Wittmann’s
unjust enrichment claim is simply a re-
packaging of his breach of fiduciary duty
claims and is governed by the two year
limitation period. Wittmann argues that
the claim is more like a wrongful taking of
personal property claim and governed by
the six year statute specified in Wis. Stat.
§ 893.51. I agree with Deutsch that Witt-
mann’s unjust enrichment claim is a re-
framing of his breach of fiduciary duty
claims and should be treated comparably.
Thus, Wittmann may proceed on his unjust
enrichment claims related to Deutsch’s
compensation as it relates to the 2009
raise.

Wittmann also alleges that Deutsch un-
justly enriched himself when he marketed
XTAC and agreed to pay PSI a higher
price. Wittmann may also proceed on his
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unjust enrichment claim related to
Deutsch’s marketing of XTAC because I
found that there are fact issues in the
underlying breach of fiduciary duty claim.
Wittmann may not continue with an unjust
enrichment claim related to Deutsch’s de-
cision to pay PSI a higher price because I
found that that decision is protected by the
business judgment rule.

D. Deutsch’s Motion for Summary
Judgment on Defendants’ Claim
that Deutsch Operated Star in an
Oppressive Manner Justifying an
Accounting and/or Corporate Dis-
solution

Defendants allege, based on their claims
discussed above, that Deutsch acted in an
illegal, oppressive, and fraudulent manner
towards Star and Wittmann, and they re-
quest an accounting and/or a corporate
dissolution under Wis. Stat.
§ 180.1430(2)(b). The outcome of this
claim depends on the resolution of issues
previously discussed. Also accounting and
corporate dissolution are essentially reme-
dies rather than independent -claims.
Therefore, I will defer consideration of this
matter until other issues have been re-
solved.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED that
defendants’ motion for partial summary
judgment (ECF No. 148) is GRANTED
IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

The motion is GRANTED as to Star’s
claim for breach of fiduciary duty.

The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for civil conspiracy.

The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for fraudulent trademark registra-
tion.

The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for tortious interference with con-
tract.
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The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for trade secret misappropriation.

The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for cybersquatting.

The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for conspiracy to injure business.

The motion is DENIED as to Star’s
claim for unfair competition.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that
Star’s motion for summary judgment
(ECF No. 156) is GRANTED IN PART
and DENIED IN PART.

The motion is GRANTED as to defen-
dants’ claim for declaratory judgment.

The motion is GRANTED as to Witt-
mann’s claim for breach of contract.

The motion is GRANTED as to Star’s
claim for trademark infringement related
to the WITTMANN PATCH, except
against defendants Heide and Mark Witt-
mann, and DENIED as to Star’s claim for
trademark infringement related to STAR
PATCH.

The motion is GRANTED as to Star’s
claims for cybersquatting related to www.
starsurgical.com.

The motion is GRANTED as to Witt-
mann’s breach of fiduciary duty/sharehold-
er derivative claim related to Deutsch’s
decision to increase the price paid to PSI
and DENIED as to Wittmann’s breach of
fiduciary duty/shareholder derivative claim
related to Deutsch’s marketing of XTAC.

The motion is DENIED as to Witt-
mann’s claim for breach of fiduciary
duty/shareholder oppression related to
Deutsch’s compensation.

The motion is DENIED as to Witt-
mann’s claim for unjust enrichment.

The motion is DENIED as to defen-
dants’ claim for corporate dissolution.

The motion is DENIED as to defen-
dants’ claim for an accounting.
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Background: Former prisoner, whose
murder conviction was vacated after he
was exonerated by DNA testing, brought
action against police detectives and city
under § 1983 and state law, alleging viola-
tions of his due process rights, conspiracy,
failure to intervene, and malicious prosecu-
tion, and negligent and intentional inflic-
tion of emotional distress. Defendants
moved for summary judgment.

Holdings: The District Court, Rudolph T.
Randa, J., held that:

(1) detectives were not entitled to quali-
fied immunity from former prisoner’s
claim they violated due process by fa-
bricating evidence, but



